FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/2/2018 3:54 PM

96153-1

Supreme Court No. _____ (COA No. 76232-0-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SAY KEODARA,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeals ruled that *Miller v. Alabama¹* and this Court's related Eighth Amendment jurisprudence only apply when the court elects to impose a sentence that exceeds a person's life expectancy. It relied on an insurance table to deem Mr. Keodara's life expectancy as 77 years old, and on this basis refused to apply *Miller* to evaluate Mr. Keodara's lengthy sentence for a crime committed when 17 years old.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals opinion, other jurisdictions deem Mr. Keodara's sentence as de facto life, because a person who spends his youth and adulthood in prison has a far lower life expectancy. Should this Court grant review to decide whether the statistically documented reduced life expectancy for a juvenile sentenced to spend the majority of his life in prison defines when a de facto life sentence is imposed and triggers the constitutional protections to be free from cruel and unusual punishment based on this statistically documented reduced life expectancy?

2. In Houston-SconiersError! Bookmark not defined.,² this Court held a sentencing court must use its full range of discretion in sentencing juveniles to comply with Miller. The sentence imposed may not rest on potential future opportunities for parole, which may be illusory. Here, the court explicitly determined the length of sentence to impose based on the possibility of future parole. Does the court's sentencing decision conflict with this Court's rulings, meriting review?

¹ Miller Error! Bookmark not defined. v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012).

² State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.2d 409 (2017).

3. In *Houston-Sconiers*, this Court held that judges must exercise discretion and consider mitigating qualities of youth when sentencing juveniles for weapons enhancements. *Houston-Sconiers* was decided after Mr. Keodara's sentencing and the judge did not have the benefit of that change in the law when sentencing Mr. Keodara. Based on the importance of fairly sentencing a young person to a de facto life term, and because the law changed after the sentence was imposed, does this change in the law require remand for further consideration of the sentence to impose?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Say Keodara received a new sentencing hearing because the court did not consider his youthful attributes diminishing his culpability when sentencing him. State v. Keodara, 191 Wn. App. 305, 364 P.3d 777 (2015). At the resentencing, the court learned Mr. Keodara lived in an extremely volatile environment from his birth, as the often-neglected child of young, drugaddicted, and impoverished parents. Mr. Keodara attempted suicide at six years old when his father left the family home. Ex.

1, at 5:32-6:00. His family believed he was molested as a child but did nothing about it. Ex.1, at 4:28-39. An older child used Mr. Keodara as a tool to help commit crimes. CP 66; RP 19; Ex. 1, 14:00-15:20. When given the opportunity for rehabilitation away from his family home, Mr. Keodara responded positively but his time away from home was limited. CP 371.

At resentencing, Mr. Keodara presented extensive evidence of his unstable childhood and mental health struggles including testimony from his mother and a psychological expert. RP 10-70. A videotape further explored the tragic circumstances of Mr. Keodara's youth, including interviews with relatives. Ex. 1.

The prosecution agreed the standard range was too harsh and asked the court to impose 46 years. CP 320-21. Mr. Keodara asked for 17 years and five months—his age at the time of the crime—and argued the firearm enhancements were not mandatory and could be reduced as part of an exceptional sentence. CP 49. The prosecution disagreed and argued the enhancements were mandatory and must be imposed in full and consecutively. CP 320-21.

The court imposed a sentence of 40 years, imposing an exceptional sentence below the standard range for the substantive offenses but refusing to run any of the four firearm enhancements concurrently. CP 357, 370.

On appeal, Mr. Keodara challenged the trial court's inadequate application of *Miller* to the evidence of his greatly reduced culpability and his transitory immaturity. The Court of Appeals did not decide whether the court properly applied *Miller* and instead ruled that *Miller* did not apply because Mr. Keodara did not receive a de facto life sentence. Relying on life expectancy data pertaining to the population at large, it concluded he would be released before he died. Mr. Keodara moved to reconsider, explaining this life expectancy data did not apply to a person who spends his life abused, traumatized and in prison. The Court of Appeals denied the motion to reconsider without comment.

E. ARGUMENT

Life expectancy charts generated for insurance purposes do not define when a lengthy sentence imposed upon a juvenile triggers the considerations of youthfulness mandated by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals used an inapplicable life expectancy chart from an insurance entity to deem Mr. Keodara's 40-year sentence too short to be bound by the requirements of *Miller v*. *Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012); U.S. Const. amend. 8; Const. art. I, § 14. Slip op. at 7-8. This Court should grant review because this issue is both of fundamental constitutional importance and lower courts need clarity on defining the bounds of when a juvenile's lengthy sentence affords the constitutionally mandated meaningful opportunity for release within the person's lifetime.

1. This Court and the United States Supreme Court mandate meaningful consideration of the attributes of youth before imposing what amounts to a life sentence.

"[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 471. This difference triggers an "Eighth Amendment requirement to treat children differently, with discretion and with consideration of mitigating factors." *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 20.

Miller mandates that a sentencing court consider several factors that make juveniles different than adults before imposing a life term on a juvenile. These factors include: (1) "chronological age and its hallmark features—among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences"; (2) "family and home environment that surrounds him—and from which he cannot usually extricate himself—no matter how brutal or dysfunctional"; and (3) the possibility of rehabilitation. Miller, 567 U.S. at 477-78; see also Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 23.

A trial court must exercise its sentencing discretion based on these factors at sentencing hearing. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 19. This sentencing discretion may not be postponed; it governs the sentencing "regardless of what opportunities for discretionary release may occur down the line." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals remanded Mr. Keodara's case for a new sentencing hearing because the judge never considered his youth during his original sentencing hearing. On remand, the court heard a host of information describing the trauma inflicted on Mr. Keodara as a young person, demonstrating his reduced culpability based on his neurological development. But when he complained that the judge did not properly apply the Miller factors, the Court of Appeals summarily ruled that Miller did not apply to Mr. Keodara because his reduced sentence of 480 months cannot constitute a life sentence when a life expectancy chart shows that people typically live until they are 77 years old.

2. Insurance generated life expectancy charts do not control the definition of a life equivalent prison sentence.

In State v. Ramos, 187 Wn.2d 420, 437, 387 P.3d 650 (2017), this Court held that "Miller applies equally to literal and de facto life-without-parole sentences." The Court of Appeals construed Ramos to hold that a de facto life sentence occurs only when the court imposes "a total prison sentence exceeding the average human life-span." Slip. op. at 7, citing Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 434.

The Court of Appeals then ruled *Ramos*, *Miller* and other related case law inapplicable to Mr. Keodara because the court imposed a 40-year sentence on remand, which makes him 58

years old upon release. Slip op. at 8. It concluded that "official state records" determine his life expectancy to be 77 years. *Id*. & n.6, citing Life-expectancy table, Office of the Insurance Commissioner Washington State (April 18, 2018), available at: https://insurance.wa.gov/life-expectancy-table.

This insurance data on which the Court of Appeals relied is not Mr. Keodara's actual life expectancy or a reasonable estimate of it. The insurance commissioner's table is inapplicable and inaccurate for a person who spends his youth and adulthood in prison following an extremely traumatic childhood.

The federal prison system classifies any sentence of 470 months or longer as a sentence of life imprisonment. U.S. Sent. Comm'n, 2013 Sourcebook of Federal Sentencing Statistics S-170 (2014). It statistically determined that 470 years or longer is a life term because "it is consistent with the average life expectancy of federal criminal offenders." *Id.*; *see* U.S. Sent. Comm'n, Life Sentences in the Federal System, 10 n.52 (2015).³

³ Available at https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-publications/research-projects-and-surveys/miscellaneous/20150226_Life_Sentences.pdf.

Each year of incarceration correlates with "a two-year decline in life expectancy." E. Patterson, *The Dose-Response of Time Served in Prison on Mortality: New York State, 1989-2003*, 103 Am. J. Pub. Health 523, 526 (2013).⁴ As the Connecticut Supreme Court ruled, a general statistic on average life expectancy in the population at large "does not account for any reduction in life expectancy due to the impact of spending the vast majority of one's life in prison." *Casiano v. Comm'r of Correction*, 115 A.3d 1031, 1046 (Conn. 2015).

Men, racial minorities, and poor people have lower life expectancies generally and they enter prison in worse health.

Cummings & Colling, There is No Meaningful Opportunity in Meaningless Data: Why It Is Unconstitutional to Use Life Expectancy Tables In Post-Graham Sentences, 18 UC Davis J.

Juvenile L. & Policy, 280, 283-85 (2014). Once in prison, "nearly all chronic health conditions are more prevalent" for inmates.

Joe Russo, et al, Caring for Those in Custody: Identifying High-Priority Needs to Reduce Mortality in Correctional Facilities,

⁴ Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3673515/.

Rand Corporation, 17 (2017). Prisons feature "high levels of violence and communicable diseases, poor diets, and shoddy health care," which lead to "a significant reduction in life expectancy behind bars." Nick Straley, *Miller's Promise: Re-Evaluating Extreme Criminal Sentences for Children*, 89 Wash. L. Rev. 963, 1007 (2014).

"Entering prison at a young age is particularly dangerous." *Id*. A young person imprisoned in an adult population is far more likely to be the victim of sexual or physical assault. *Id*.

While in prison, people "experience relentless stress, exposure to infectious diseases, and the threat of violence." Cummings, *supra* at 288. They are isolated in small spaces for long periods of time. *Id.* "[I]ncarceration accelerates the aging process and results in life expectancies substantially shorter than estimates for the general population." *Contreras*, 411 P.3d at 450.

⁵ Available at https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR1967.html.

The effects of prison do not disappear upon release: former inmates die in Washington at a rate 3.5 times higher than other state residents. I.A. Binswanger, et al, Release from Prison - A High Risk of Death for Former Inmates, New Eng. J. Med. 161 (2007).6

Say Keodara received a sentence of 480 months for a crime he committed when 17 years old. During his birth and throughout his childhood, his mother was an impoverished drug addict. CP 58-59. His childhood was marked by extreme chaos, including the abandonment of his father to prison and his mother's neglect of him. CP 61, 79, 84. He will be 58 years when he completes this prison term. Due to the effects prison has on any person sent to adult prison at a young age, Mr. Keodara's sentence is a de facto life term.

The Court of Appeals opinion rested on insurance data for life expectancy that no party cited in its briefing to categorically remove Mr. Keodara from the sentencing assessments required in *Ramos*, *Houston-Sconiers*, and *Miller*. Prison substantially diminishes a person's life expectancy. Mr. Keodara's life

⁶ Available at https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa064115.

expectancy is not validly explained or analyzed by a statistic that does not take into account the impact prison will have on his life expectancy.

This Court should grant review to rectify the Court of Appeals' error and clarify that a child's life expectancy is not defined by that of a person living in freedom when sentenced to a lengthy term in adult prison. This Court should further grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion denies children the protections of the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 based on a definition of life expectancy that does not take into account the fundamental tenets of Miller and its related jurisprudence. A young person sentenced to live his life in prison without full consideration of his youthful attributes receives an unconstitutional sentence.

3. Under constitutional and common law principles, a sentence that releases someone at the end of their expected life is a de facto life sentence for a juvenile.

A lawful sentence imposed on a juvenile for even the most horrible of crimes "must offer 'hope of restoration," as well as "a chance for fulfillment outside prison walls, and a chance for reconciliation with society." *People v. Contreras*, 411 P.3d 453

(Cal. 2018) (quoting *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 79, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010)). Release near the end of one's biological life is essentially a sentence of life in prison that is constitutional only for the irretrievably incorrigible, which Mr. Keodara is not.

The Court of Appeals used an inapplicable life expectancy chart to deem Mr. Keodara's sentence to be unmoored from the requirements of *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460. 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) and its construction of the Eighth Amendment's individualized sentencing mandate when imposing a life sentence on a person who committed a homicide as a child. Slip op. at 7-8. *Miller* applies to Mr. Keodara's 480-month sentence.

Prison life expectancy is reflected in the federal statistics, showing a 470-month sentence equates with life in prison, and not by insurance tables generated for the population at large.

The court rendered its sentencing decision without the benefit of Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 20, which substantially altered the court's sentencing discretion. Mr. Keodara offered abundant evidence of his tragic life circumstances diminishing his ability

to control his behavior in his youth and his great capacity for rehabilitation. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeal decision conflicts with this Court's recent sentencing decisions and demonstrates the need to explain the parameters of a court's sentencing discretion when imposing a sentence that contemplates a juvenile's release near the end of his natural life.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Say Keodara respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

DATED this 2nd day of August 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY P. COLLINS (WSBA 28806)

Washington Appellate Project (91052)

Attorneys for Petitioner

(206) 587-2711

nancy@washapp.org

COURT OF APPEALS DIV I STATE OF WASHINGTON 2018 MAY -7 AM 8: 31

hosteries in a

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

| STATE OF WASHINGTON, |) |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|
| | DIVISION ONE |
| Respondent, |) No. 76232-0-I (consol. with |
| v. | No. 76333-4-I) |
| SAY SULIN KEODARA, | UNPUBLISHED OPINION |
| Appellant. |)) FILED: May 7, 2018 |
| | 1 |

DWYER, J. — Say Keodara committed terrible crimes when he was 17 years old. He was sentenced to a low-end standard range sentence of 831 months of incarceration. Finding that this 69-year, three-month sentence was the functional equivalent of a life-without-parole sentence, and that the sentencing court had, at sentencing, treated as immaterial Keodara's youth, we reversed the sentence and remanded the cause for a new sentencing hearing.

On remand, the court considered Keodara's youth at the time of his offense, including the particular circumstances of his upbringing and general circumstances pertaining to youthful offenders. The court concluded that Keodara had proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he should receive an exceptional sentence below the standard range. The court imposed a 480-month sentence. This 40-year sentence is not the equivalent of a life-without-parole sentence.

Because the sentencing court (1) recognized that no mandatory sentence provisions were applicable in Keodara's circumstance, (2) recognized that it had discretion at sentencing to select an appropriate sentence, (3) exercised its discretion, (4) considered Keodara's youth in determining the appropriate sentence, and (5) imposed a sentence below the standard range for a lesser term than life, there was no error. We affirm.

ı

In 2013, a jury convicted Keodara for crimes that he committed when he was 17 years old.¹ The crimes of conviction were one count of murder in the first degree, one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, and three counts of assault in the first degree. The murder conviction and the three assault convictions included, for sentencing purposes, mandatory firearm enhancements. Keodara was sentenced to a total of 831 months in prison. This sentence was at the lowest end of the standard range of 831 months to 1141 months, as set forth in RCW 9.94A.510.

Keodara appealed his convictions and sentence to this court. We affirmed Keodara's convictions but remanded for resentencing because the sentencing court had imposed a sentence that was, in effect, a life sentence without first adequately considering Keodara's youth and individual circumstances, as required by Eighth Amendment case law. See State v. Keodara, No. 70518-1-1,

¹ The crimes are detailed in <u>State v. Keodara</u>, 191 Wn. App. 305, 364 P.3d 777 (2015), <u>review denied</u>, 185 Wn.2d 1028 (2016).

slip op. at 19 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 2, 2015) (published in part) http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/705181.pdf at 19.

On remand, a new sentencing hearing was held. Prior to the hearing, Keodara submitted 240 pages of mitigation materials. The materials included Keodara's mental health assessments, details about his difficult childhood, and educational materials explaining the effects of maltreatment on brain development. Keodara also presented testimony from his mother and psychologist, both of whom testified to Keodara's difficult childhood and to the impact that his difficult childhood had on his psychological health.

Before announcing Keodara's sentence, the trial court emphasized that it had, on several occasions, reviewed all of the information submitted to the court. It also explained that it had considered Keodara's age at the time of the crime, his family and home environment, his susceptibility to influence from older individuals, and his possibility of rehabilitation in reaching a decision about his sentence.² Upon considering Keodara's youth, the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 480 months in prison.³ The sentence is almost 30 years below the lowest end of the standard range—831 months.

Keodara again appeals.

² The trial court entered extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law, as to the impact of his youth, as supplements to the judgment and sentence.

³ Keodara was sentenced to 240 months for the murder in the first degree conviction. He was sentenced to 87 months for the unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree conviction. He was given three separate 93 month sentences for each of the three convictions for assault in the first degree. He was also given four separate 60 month sentences for the firearm enhancements to the murder and the assault convictions. The sentences for the murder, assaults, and possession of a firearm convictions were ordered to run concurrently (for a total of 240 months.) The sentences for the four firearm enhancements were ordered to run consecutively (for a total of 240 months.) Thus, the total sentence was for 480 months of incarceration.

Keodara's primary contention on appeal is that the procedure at his sentencing hearing fell short of that required by Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). Keodara's assertion reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the Miller decision and of the Eighth Amendment, upon which Miller was grounded.

The Eighth Amendment⁴ concerns itself with actual punishment. It is not a procedural guarantee.

The import of <u>Miller</u> was explained by the United States Supreme Court in a later decision. In <u>Miller</u>,

the Court held that a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense could not be sentenced to life in prison without parole absent consideration of the juvenile's special circumstances in light of the principles and purposes of juvenile sentencing.

Montgomery v. Louisiana, __ U.S. __, 136 S. Ct. 718, 725, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016). More specifically,

Miller held that mandatory life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on "'cruel and unusual punishments." Id., at __, 132 S. Ct., at 2460. "By making youth (and all that accompanies it) irrelevant to imposition of that harshest prison sentence," mandatory life without parole "poses too great a risk of disproportionate punishment." Id., at __, 132 S. Ct., at 2469. Miller required that sentencing courts consider a child's "diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change" before condemning him or her to die in prison. Ibid. Although Miller did not foreclose a sentencer's ability to impose life without parole on a juvenile, the Court explained that a lifetime in prison is a disproportionate sentence for all but the rarest of children, those whose crimes reflect "irreparable corruption." Ibid.

⁴ "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." U.S. CONST. amend. VIII.

(quoting Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 573, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005)).

Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 726.

In <u>Montgomery</u>, the high court made explicit that <u>Miller</u> announced "a new substantive rule of constitutional law." <u>Montgomery</u>, 136 S. Ct. at 729. Such rules, the Court cautioned, are to be distinguished from "procedural rules." <u>Montgomery</u>, 136 S. Ct. at 729. To be sure, <u>Miller</u> conferred a "substantive constitutional right." <u>Montgomery</u>, 136 S. Ct. at 732. The right was substantive, the <u>Montgomery</u> Court explained, because "[p]rotection against disproportionate punishment is the central substantive guarantee of the Eighth Amendment." <u>Montgomery</u>, 136 S. Ct. at 732.

These considerations underlay the Court's holding in Miller that mandatory life-without-parole sentences for children "pos[e] too great a risk of disproportionate punishment." 567 U.S., at ___, 132 S. Ct., at 2469. Miller requires that before sentencing a juvenile to life without parole, the sentencing judge take into account "how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Ibid. The Court recognized that a sentencer might encounter the rare juvenile offender who exhibits such irretrievable depravity that rehabilitation is impossible and life without parole is justified. But in light of "children's diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change," Miller made clear that "appropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be uncommon." Ibid.

Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 733-34. The Court then explained,

[b]ecause Miller determined that sentencing a child to life without parole is excessive for all but "the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption," 567 U.S., at ___, 132 S. Ct., at 2469 (quoting Roper, supra, at 573, 125 S. Ct. 1183), it rendered life without parole an unconstitutional penalty for "a class of defendants because of their status"—that is, juvenile offenders

whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth. As a result, <u>Miller</u> announced a substantive rule of constitutional law.

Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (citation omitted).

But there is even more to be learned about <u>Miller</u> from the <u>Montgomery</u> opinion.

To be sure, <u>Miller's</u> holding has a procedural component. <u>Miller</u> requires a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender's youth and attendant characteristics before determining that life without parole is a proportionate sentence. . . . Those procedural requirements do not, of course, transform substantive rules into procedural ones.

The procedure Miller prescribes is no different. A hearing where "youth and its attendant characteristics" are considered as sentencing factors is necessary to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not. 567 U.S., at ___, 132 S. Ct., at 2460. The hearing does not replace but rather gives effect to Miller's substantive holding that life without parole is an excessive sentence for children whose crimes reflect transient immaturity.

Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734-35 (emphasis added).

Miller thus established two inter-related, substantive constitutional rules. The Eighth Amendment prohibits both (1) the mandatory imposition of a life-without-parole sentence on a juvenile offender, and (2) the imposition of a life-without-parole sentence on a juvenile offender whose crime reflects transient immaturity, as opposed to irretrievable depravity.

Our Supreme Court undertook an application of Miller just last year. In State v. Ramos, the court held that "Miller applies equally to literal and de facto life-without-parole sentences." 187 Wn.2d 420, 437, 387 P.3d 650, cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 467 (2017). The court described a de facto

life sentence as follows: "a total prison term exceeding the average human life-span—that is, a de facto life sentence." Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 434.

The Supreme Court then applied the Miller guarantees to the de facto life sentence imposed on Ramos. In so doing, it set forth the rule of Miller: "Miller establishes a substantive rule that a life-without-parole sentence cannot be imposed on a juvenile homicide offender whose crimes reflect transient immaturity." Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 436 (emphasis added). Applying this to Ramos's situation, the court explained that

Ramos was in fact sentenced to die in prison for homicide offenses he committed as a juvenile. <u>Miller</u> plainly provides that a juvenile homicide offender cannot be sentenced to die in prison without a meaningful opportunity to gain early release based on demonstrated rehabilitation unless the offender first receives a constitutionally adequate <u>Miller</u> hearing.

Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 440 (emphasis added).

The import of the discussions in <u>Montgomery</u> and <u>Ramos</u> is that they make clear that <u>Miller</u>, as an Eighth Amendment case, is concerned with the *punishment imposed*. The <u>Miller</u> rule is applicable when a juvenile offender is sentenced to die in prison (as a result of the imposition of either a literal or a de facto life-without-parole sentence).

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