FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/28/2018 12:49 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96153-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SAY KEODARA,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN SUMMERS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent, the State of Washington, asks this Court to deny the petition for review.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is <u>State v. Keodara</u>, No. 76232-0-I, filed May 7, 2018 (unpublished).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Say Keodara was convicted by a jury of the crimes of murder in the first degree and three counts of assault in the first degree, all with firearm enhancements. CP 17-18, 310-11. The facts of the crime were summarized in the opinion affirming the convictions, State v. Keodara, 191 Wn. App. 305, 364 P.3d 777 (2015):

On September 12, 2011, a fatal shooting occurred at a bus stop on Rainier Avenue. Four people were inside the bus shelter located at the southwest corner of Rainier Avenue South and South McClellan Street. A vehicle pulled up and some Asian males, appearing to be in their teens or early twenties, asked the group if they were looking for any "soft." Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) (May 8, 2013) at 135–36. "Soft" was known as a street term for crack cocaine. One of the persons inside the shelter, Victor Lee Parker, approached the vehicle and may have made a purchase. Parker then

returned to the bus stop and the vehicle drove south on Rainier and then turned.

Later, three of the men from the vehicle approached the bus stop from the north on foot. One of them had a gun and demanded money from the group. The gunman fired on the group after one person tried to run. All four people were hit. Parker had been shot once and was lying on the ground when the shooter walked up to him and shot him in the head. Surveillance cameras from a nearby store showed images of a similar vehicle and of a man in a blue sleeveless jersey with writing on it.

Keodara was charged several months later for the Rainier Avenue shooting after being identified from the surveillance video images. One of the victims, Sharon McMillon, described the gunman and later testified that the car in the video appeared to be the same one that stopped at the shelter, and that the person in the blue basketball jersey appeared to be the shooter. Keodara was also identified in the video by Lacana Long, who had dated Keodara in 2011.

Nathan Smallbeck told police that Keodara called him after the shooting and told him that he had "just shot at a bus station." VRP (May 13, 2013) at 34–35. He provided a statement to police about a call from Keodara around 3:18 a.m. and that he called Keodara later around 11:00 a.m. *Id.* at 36. The State presented Keodara's telephone records showing call records and texts from the day of the shooting. The State also obtained location data for Keodara's phone that showed it was in the area near the time of the shooting.

Id. at 310-11.

Keodara was 17 years old when he committed the crimes.

CP 315. At the first sentencing hearing, the trial court imposed a

sentence of 831 months. <u>Id.</u> at 312; CP 20. The Court of Appeals reversed the sentence and remanded for a new sentencing pursuant to <u>Miller v. Alabama</u>, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012).

Upon remand, a resentencing hearing was held before the trial court. RP 1. The defense presented 240 pages of mitigation materials, which included a detailed and extensive social history, a psychological evaluation, mental health records and prior assessments of Keodara. CP 48-288. The defense presented the testimony of Keodara's mother and Dr. Heavin, who conducted the psychological evaluation. RP 9-69. Keodara elected not to make any statements to the court. RP 92.

The parties agreed that the court had the discretion to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range. CP 73, 320-21. The court concluded that it could disregard any mandatory minimums and could impose concurrent terms for the firearm enhancements. RP 92; CP 370.

Keodara recommended a sentence of 209.75 months. CP 90-91. The State recommended a sentence of 552 months. CP 320-21. Both of these recommendations were substantially below the presumptive standard range of 831 months to 1025 months

(based on the presumption of consecutive sentences for the serious violent offenses and the firearm enhancements pursuant to RCW 9.94A.589 and 9.94A.533(3)(e)). The court imposed an exceptional sentence below the standard range of total confinement of 480 months by imposing 240 months as to the murder sentence, with the assault sentences (93 months each) to run concurrently, and the four 60-month firearm enhancements to run consecutively to the murder term and each other. CP 357.

In imposing sentence, the court stressed that it had reviewed and considered all the material submitted by the defense. RP 92. The court noted that it had considered Keodara's age, his family history and circumstances, the circumstances of the crime, evidence of his capacity for improvement when placed in a structured environment, and the multiple risk factors that would contribute to the likelihood of Keodara engaging in impulsive behavior as explained by Dr. Heavin in her testimony and report. RP 92-95. In regard to his age and culpability generally, the court stated "his culpability is less because we all know that juveniles have less development in their executive functions." RP 93. The court entered written findings and conclusions detailing its sentencing decision. CP 367-71.

In addition to the new reduced sentence, Keodara also has the opportunity for parole. Because Keodara was 17 years old when he committed the murder, and was not convicted of aggravated murder, he may petition the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board for release after serving 20 years of his sentence pursuant to RCW 9.94A.730. See State v. Scott, 190 Wn.2d 586, 416 P.3d 1182 (2018).

D. <u>ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE</u> ACCEPTED

1. THE ISSUE RAISED IN THIS PETITION WAS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION.

This Court should deny Keodara's petition for review because his argument that his sentence constitutes a de facto life sentence was raised for the first time in his motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals opinion. In his opening brief, Keodara did not assign error to imposition of the 40-year sentence as constituting a *de facto* life sentence. Rather, Keodara alleged that the trial court did not meaningfully consider or properly apply the Miller factors, and alleged that the trial court abused its discretion by running the weapon enhancements consecutively to

each other. Keodara never alleged, and never provided legal authority for the proposition that a 40-year sentence imposed on a 17-year-old offender constitutes a de facto life sentence.

2. KEODARA HAS PROVIDED NO AUTHORITY FOR HIS CLAIM THAT A 40-YEAR SENTENCE CONSTITUTES A DE FACTO LIFE SENTENCE.

Keodara has provided no authority for his claim that a 40-year sentence is a de facto life sentence. Washington courts have yet to delineate precisely what constitutes a de facto life sentence. In State v. Ronguillo, 190 Wn. App. 765, 777, 361 P.3d 779 (2015), Division One of the Court of Appeals concluded that a sentence of over 50 years imposed on a 16-year-old constituted a de facto life sentence. Other courts have similarly drawn the line at 45 or 50 years. For example, in Bear Cloud v. State, 334 P.3d 132 (Wyo. 2014), the Wyoming Supreme Court concluded that a 45year sentence imposed on a 16-year-old offender constituted a de facto life sentence. In People v. Buffer, 75 N.E.3d 470, 481, 412 III.Dec. 490 (III. App. 2017), the Illinois appellate court concluded that a 50-year sentence imposed on a 16-year-old offender was a de facto life sentence, relying on the United States Sentencing Commission Preliminary Quarterly Data Report indicating that a

person in the general prison population has a life expectancy of 64 years. In People v. Contreras, 4 Cal.5th 349, 369, 411 P.3d 445, 229 Cal.Rptr.3d 249 (2018), the California Supreme Court concluded that a 50-year-sentence imposed on a 16-year-old offender was a de facto life sentence, citing a general legislative consensus. In Casiano v. Commissioner of Correction, 317 Conn. 52, 79, 115 A.3d 1031 (2015), the Supreme Court of Connecticut concluded that a 50-year sentence imposed on a 16-year-old offender was a de facto life sentence, but declined to opine whether a sentence of less than 50 years imposed on a juvenile would be a de facto life sentence. Keodara has not cited to any court that has found that a 40-year-sentence imposed on a juvenile offender is a de facto life sentence. Even assuming that Keodara earns no early release at all, he will be released from prison at age 57 at the latest.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH STATE V. HOUSTON-SCONIERS

Keodara wrongly asserts that the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with <u>State v. Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). <u>Houston-Sconiers</u> did not purport to define what constitutes a de facto life sentence. In that case, the two juvenile

offenders were sentenced without a <u>Miller</u> hearing to lengthy sentences for non-homicide crimes. This Court concluded that the Eighth Amendment allows sentencing courts to exercise complete discretion in a <u>Miller</u> hearing, regardless of the applicable SRA provisions. <u>Id.</u> at 21. The court remanded because the trial court thought it had no discretion to impose a lower sentence. <u>Id.</u> Given Keodara's presumptive range, <u>Houston-Sconiers</u> required a <u>Miller</u> hearing. A <u>Miller</u> hearing was held in this case. The trial court understood it was not bound by mandatory provisions of the SRA in imposing sentence due to Keodara's age, as provided by <u>Houston-Sconiers</u>. RP 92; CP 370. There is no conflict.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the petition for review be denied.